

Western Washington University Western CEDAR

WWU Graduate School Collection

WWU Graduate and Undergraduate Scholarship

Spring 2023

# Polyunsaturated Aldehyde Production in the Salish Sea: A Survey of Benthic Diatom Producers and the Influence of Coastal Upwelling

Jeremy Johnson Western Washington University, jeremy\_johnson19@outlook.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://cedar.wwu.edu/wwuet

Part of the Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Johnson, Jeremy, "Polyunsaturated Aldehyde Production in the Salish Sea: A Survey of Benthic Diatom Producers and the Influence of Coastal Upwelling" (2023). *WWU Graduate School Collection*. 1199. https://cedar.wwu.edu/wwuet/1199

This Masters Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the WWU Graduate and Undergraduate Scholarship at Western CEDAR. It has been accepted for inclusion in WWU Graduate School Collection by an authorized administrator of Western CEDAR. For more information, please contact westerncedar@wwu.edu.

## Polyunsaturated Aldehyde Production in the Salish Sea: A Survey of Benthic Diatom Producers and the Influence of Coastal Upwelling

By

Jeremy Johnson

Accepted in Partial Completion of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

### ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Dr. M. Brady Olson, Co-chair

Dr. Karin Lemkau, Co-chair

Dr. Kathy Van Alstyne

GRADUATE SCHOOL

David L. Patrick, Dean

## Master's Thesis

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a master's degree at Western Washington University, I grant to Western Washington University the non-exclusive royalty-free right to archive, reproduce, distribute, and display the thesis in any and all forms, including electronic format, via any digital library mechanisms maintained by WWU.

I represent and warrant this is my original work and does not infringe or violate any rights of others. I warrant that I have obtained written permissions from the owner of any third party copyrighted material included in these files.

I acknowledge that I retain ownership rights to the copyright of this work, including but not limited to the right to use all or part of this work in future works, such as articles or books.

Library users are granted permission for individual, research, and non-commercial reproduction of this work for educational purposes only. Any further digital posting of this document requires specific permission from the author.

Any copying or publication of this thesis for commercial purposes, or for financial gain, is not allowed without my written permission.

Jeremy Johnson

May 18<sup>th</sup>, 2023

Polyunsaturated Aldehyde Production in the Salish Sea: A Survey of Benthic Diatom Producers and the Influence of Coastal Upwelling

## A Thesis Presented to The Faculty of Western Washington University

In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

> By Jeremy Johnson May 2023

#### Abstract

In coastal, nutrient-rich waters like the Salish Sea, diatoms dominate the phytoplankton community during seasonal upwelling events. Diatoms were once believed to be an ideal food source for primary consumers like copepods, but their role in food web dynamics changed upon discovery that diatoms can produce organic compounds upon cell death known as polyunsaturated aldehydes (PUAs). These compounds directly affect the reproductive success of diatom consumers by reducing egg production and viability, deforming embryos, and delaying embryonic development. PUA production dynamics have been assessed under varying nutrient concentrations and culture age, but no study has tested the effect of elevated dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> ( $pCO_2$ ) on the production of these organic molecules. In addition, most surveys of PUA-producing diatoms have only assessed pelagic production. In this study, I isolated benthic diatom species from the Salish Sea and tested them for PUA production. I also conducted a microcosm upwelling experiment using a benthic and pelagic diatom under varying  $pCO_2$  levels to assess whether PUA production is affected by inorganic carbon level.

I found that all Salish Sea benthic diatom species tested produced PUA molecules, and elevated  $pCO_2$  did not significantly affect the production of PUA molecules. Experimental results indicate that upwelling events alone are likely not causing an increase in PUA production. The survey results indicate that benthic diatoms should be included in future PUA producer surveys to assess PUA production in the water column. Future research should assess the synergy between elevated  $pCO_2$  and nutrient limitation on PUA production, as these conditions are expected with worsening climate change. In addition, future studies on the impact of PUAs on grazer fecundity should be expanded to include benthic diatom consumers, including mollusks and other benthic invertebrates.

#### Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank both of my amazing advisors, Dr. Brady Olson and Dr. Karin Lemkau, for being fantastic mentors during my time in both my undergraduate and graduate programs here at Western. Both continuously pushed me to be the best scientist, writer, student, and person I could be when I needed it most, and I couldn't have done this without their support. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Kathy Van Alstyne, for scientific consultations and assisting me with the use of Shannon Point facilities both before and during my experiment.

Thank you to the staff at Shannon Point Marine Center for giving me support during my experiment. SPMC Lab Manager Derek Smith assisted me whenever I needed help or supplies during my time at Shannon Point. Also, a huge thank you to Horng-Yuh Lee for her help during my carbonate chemistry testing throughout last year, for keeping me grounded during times I thought I was ready to throw in the towel, and for our lovely ceramics discussions we had. Thank you to Dr. Brooke Love for guidance on the carbonate chemistry method. Also, a thank you to Alyssa Tsukada, Mara Morrissey, and Mike Kraft at SciTech for helping me with SEM imaging for my diatom species, and Heino Hulsey-Vincent for helping me with widefield microscope imaging.

Another big thank you to the undergraduates who helped me during my thesis. Ashlyn Daugherty and Isaac Hoffmeister were superstars at diatom species isolations and helped me whenever they could to get as many species as possible. The project also wouldn't have been possible without Ian Parker, who was indispensable throughout my entire time in this program, including the summer before it. Ian worked nonstop to help develop our PUA method at Western and is a brilliant chemist.

I would also like to thank my sources of funding I received throughout my program. Thank you to the Biology and Chemistry Departments for supporting my labs with supplies, the Marine and Coastal Science Program for summer support, and the Fraser Fund and the Research and Sponsored Programs grant for research funding.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their support throughout my higher education experience. I couldn't have done it (or stayed sane) without you all. I did it!!!

## Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	V
List of Figures and Tables	viii
Introduction	1
Diatoms and their Global Influence	1
An Introduction to Polyunsaturated Aldehydes	3
Knowledge Gap and Research Questions	5
Methods	7
Study Site and Model Organisms	7
Benthic Diatom Sampling, Isolation, and Identifications	7
Culture Maintenance	8
Benthic Diatom Survey	8
Upwelling Experimental Design	8
Carbonate Chemistry	9
Chlorophyll-a Quantification	10
Reagents	11
Particulate PUA Method	11
Gas Chromatography Parameters	12
Statistical Applysos	12
Desults	13
Ponthia Survey	14
Hermelling Furgeringert	14
Water Chemistry and Diatom Growth	14 14
PUA Results	15
Discussion	17
Major Findings	17
Benthic PUA Production in the Salish Sea	17
Upwelling Experiment	19
Future Directions	21
Literature Cited	23
Figures and Tables	33

## List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Chemical structures of the three PUAs considered in this study
<b>Figure 2.</b> Representative scanning electron micrographs used for identification of (A) <i>Fragilariopsis pseudonana</i> , (B) <i>Nitzschia</i> sp. a, (C) <i>Licmophora flabellata</i> , (D) <i>Cylindrotheca</i> <i>closterium</i> , (E) <i>Navicula vara</i> , (F) <i>Fistulifera saprophila</i> , (G) <i>Nitzschia</i> sp. b, and (H) <i>Navicula</i> sp. White scale bars depict 1 µm in all images but (C) and (D), which depict 10 µm
<b>Figure 3.</b> Representative example of culture distribution within the incubator during the upwelling experiment. Colors denote <i>S. marinoi</i> (green), <i>F. pseudonana</i> (orange), and blanks (gray). Temperature loggers (white) were placed in corners of the incubator. Culture placement was randomized daily
<b>Figure 4.</b> Benthic diatom PUA survey of (A) 2,4-heptadienal, (B) 2,4-octadienal, (C) 2,4-decadienal, and (D) total PUA production. Bars represent means of quantifiable replicates and error bars represent standard deviations. Each diatom species tested was performed in triplicate cultures and quantified as nmol PUA molecule per $\mu$ g of chlorophyll- <i>a</i> . Cultures containing replicates below method quantitation limit (MQL) are marked with an asterisk. Note differences in scale of Y axes
<b>Figure 5.</b> Carbon acquisition plot of diatoms throughout the upwelling experiment. Both species started in media pre-equilibrated to target $pCO_2$ levels (µatm). Symbol shape is used to define the diatom species, while color is used to define $pCO_2$ level. Trendlines are used to infer daily $CO_2$ acquisition rate. Pre-equilibrated media (Day 0) and Day 6 values are means of quadruplicate and triplicate measurements, respectively. Error bars represent standard deviations, with some bars are hidden behind symbol. Day 3 values come from single measurements 37
Figure 6. pH measurements of media from (A) S. marinoi and (B) F. pseudonana throughout the

**Figure 8.** *F. pseudonana* PUA production across  $pCO_2$  level (µatm) of (A) 2,4-heptadienal, (B) 2,4-octadienal, (C) 2,4-decadienal, and (D) total PUA production. Gray bars represent means of quantifiable replicate cultures and error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. *F. pseudonana* produced significantly more PUAs in the 400 µatm treatment than the 1200 µatm treatment (p = 0.028). *F. pseudonana* also produced greater concentrations of 2,4-octadienal than 2,4-

heptadienal (p = 0.005) and lower amounts 2,4-decadienal (p << 0.001) across all $p$ CO <sub>2</sub> levels. Values below the quantification limit were quantified and visualized using MQL/2. Note differences in scale of Y axes.	40
Table 1. Molecular and fragment ions (m/z) of compounds monitored for identification on GC-MS.	41
<b>Table 2.</b> Method detection limit (MDL) and quantitation limit (MQL) of PUA molecules. Value were calculated using 6 replicate 0.001 nmol mixed PUA standards. MDL was calculated as 3σ and MQL as 10σ.	es 12
<b>Table 3.</b> Average chlorophyll-a measurements ( $\mu$ g) of inoculum and experimental bottles with their respective growth rates ( $\mu$ ). Errors are standard deviations based on four replicate analyses Growth rates were calculated using pre- and post-experiment chlorophyll measurements assuming exponential growth. No significant difference was found in growth rates and total	9.
chlorophyll-a across pCO <sub>2</sub> levels within species.	13

#### Introduction

#### Diatoms and their Global Influence

Diatoms are a class of microscopic, unicellular algae that dominate coastal, nutrient-rich waters like the Salish Sea (Nelson et al. 1995, Armbrust et al. 2009, Belluz et al. 2021). These algae are highly efficient photosynthesizers, contributing an estimated 40% of total primary production in the ocean and 20% of oxygen production globally (Mann 1999, Falkowski et al. 2004, Harvey et al. 2019). The photosynthetic efficiency of diatoms is heightened in coastal waters, where diatoms contribute up to 70% of net primary production (Uitz et al. 2010). This primary production, to a large extent, serves as the base of the marine food web and supports higher trophic level organisms, like commercially important forage fish and benthic invertebrates (Coutteau 1996, Kumaran et al. 2017, Kaparapu 2018).

Diatoms are cosmopolitan, inhabiting both the pelagic and benthic environments of the photic zone (Cahoon 1999, Kamp et al. 2011, Leynaert et al. 2018). Pelagic diatoms inhabit the sunlit layers of the water column and are a primary resource for zooplankton, specifically copepods (Clarke et al. 1939, Wiggert 2005, Liu et al. 2016). These diatoms are also major contributors to the biological pump, whereby organically fixed carbon sinks to the bottom of the ocean and is buried in marine sediment through sinking fecal pellets and marine snow (Agusti et al. 2015, Benoiston et al. 2017). In contrast, benthic diatoms inhabit the seafloor of the photic zone, and secrete polysaccharides that allow them to adhere to sediment of all grain sizes and other organisms like eelgrass and macroalgae (Jonge 1985, Tong & Derek 2021). While they don't contribute as significantly to nutrient cycling and the biological pump as their pelagic counterparts, benthic diatoms are ubiquitous in near-shore locations and can support entire food chains of larger, higher trophic level organisms (Christianen et al. 2017). Pelagic diatoms are

well-studied given their importance as a resource to higher trophic levels (Taylor et al. 2007). Benthic diatoms, in contrast, are comparatively understudied (Althouse et al. 2014).

The cosmopolitan nature of diatoms is linked to their metabolic flexibility, photosynthetic efficiency, and grazing defense properties (Hamm et al. 2003, Roberts et al. 2007, Lepetit et al. 2017, Bondoc et al. 2018). In coastal locations, diatom blooms are initiated during seasonal upwelling events, which increase surface concentrations of essential nutrients like nitrate and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) (Fawcett & Ward 2011). However, when nitrate concentrations decrease, diatoms can sustain high growth rates using other nitrogen sources (Rogato et al. 2016). For example, diatoms can use and grow rapidly on recycled nitrogen like urea and ammonium (da Silva et al. 2009). They can also use multiple forms of dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) for carbon fixation, including CO<sub>2</sub> and bicarbonate, and can use these molecules at similar rates (Tortell et al. 1997, Trimborn et al. 2008).

Diatoms also have a high photosynthetic efficiency. Like all photoautotrophs, they use the enzyme ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RubisCO) in the Calvin cycle to fix CO<sub>2</sub> into chemical energy during the process of photosynthesis (Young et al. 2016, Sethi et al. 2020). RubisCO evolved at a time when atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations were much higher than current levels (Nisbet et al. 2007). Depending on temperature and CO<sub>2</sub>:O<sub>2</sub> ratios, this disparity in CO<sub>2</sub> concentration can cause RubisCO to occasionally catalyze a competing reaction, the oxygenase pathway (Young & Hopkinson 2017). In this photorespiratory reaction, molecular oxygen is taken up and carbon molecules are broken down, yielding CO<sub>2</sub> (Young & Hopkinson 2017, Cummins 2021). Diatoms have the most efficient form of RubisCO known, which allows for high photosynthetic efficiency and less photorespiration (Roberts et al. 2007). In addition, diatoms have various carbon-concentrating mechanisms (CCMs) that allow for increased efficiency of RubisCO in carbon-poor environments (Young et al. 2016, Matsuda et al. 2017).

In addition to mechanisms that select for high or sustained growth and photosynthetic rates under environmental variability, diatoms have also evolved phenotypes to minimize grazing mortality. Diatoms biomanufacture siliceous frustules that surround the cell membrane and can inhibit predation (Sumper & Brunner 2005, Reid et al. 2021). For example, frustules with a higher silica content are less palatable to predators than those with less silica (Bondoc et al. 2018). In addition, some diatoms produce needle-like spines on their frustules, which create a physical boundary between the diatoms and their predators (Hamm et al. 2003). Many diatom species also excrete polysaccharides through pores in the silica. These polysaccharides can link diatoms together to form multicellular chains and allow for gliding, substrate adhesion, and predator deterrence, as smaller grazers may be unable to consume large chains of cells (Malej & Harris 1993, Tolhurst 2008, Bondoc et al. 2018).

#### An Introduction to Polyunsaturated Aldehydes

Due to their high abundance across disparate marine ecosystems and their prevalence in zooplankton fecal pellets, diatoms were once considered optimal food for their pelagic consumers, like copepods (Legendre 1990, Arendt et al. 2005). This paradigm shifted, however, when it was found that copepod egg production and viability decreased and embryo malformation increased when adult females fed on diatom diets (Ban et al. 1997, Ianora et al. 1999, Ianora et al. 2004). Following this discovery, researchers identified polyunsaturated aldehydes (PUAs) to be the causative agent of this reduced fecundity. This effect resulted from the presence of PUAs in copepod gonads during egg development, when lipid requirement is high (Miralto et al. 1999). Subsequent studies have shown that PUAs impact sea urchin larvae by

impeding fertilization, deforming embryos, and arresting embryonic development (Caldwell et al. 2002, Caldwell et al. 2004, Romano et al. 2010, Varrella et al. 2014, Ruocco et al. 2018).

PUAs are a class of oxylipins produced by many pelagic and benthic diatoms (Wichard et al. 2005a, Vidoudez et al. 2011a, Vidoudez et al. 2011b, Pezzolesi et al. 2017). PUAs are characterized by their aldehyde functional group and long, unsaturated carbon tail (Figure 1). Diatoms can synthesize a variety of PUAs of varying chain length, degree of unsaturation, and isometric conformation (Figure 1, Wichard et al. 2005a, Jüttner et al. 2010, Vidoudez et al. 2011b, Lixia et al. 2019). PUA synthesis is heavily enzyme-dependent and tightly controlled within diatoms. Synthesis of particulate PUAs occurs during damage to the cell membrane from predator grazing or apoptosis (Orefice et al. 2022). Upon cell death, polyunsaturated fatty acids like eicosapentaenoic and hexadecatrienoic acid are released from the cell and chloroplast membranes (Taylor et al. 2009). These lipids are oxidized by the enzyme lipoxygenase to form hydroperoxides and, later, PUAs (Orefice et al. 2022). Diatoms can also release dissolved PUAs into the water column without membrane disruption (Vidoudez & Pohnert 2008).

In addition to reducing predator fecundity, PUAs have other ecological roles. Dissolved PUAs can act as information chemicals by signaling cellular autolysing in surrounding diatoms (Vidoudez & Pohnert 2008, Ribalet et al. 2014, Franze et al. 2018). PUA production is observed to be highest during bloom die-off, and their ability to trigger autolysing suggests PUAs may act as a signal to limit the time span and biomass of diatom blooms (Vidoudez & Pohnert 2008, Ribalet et al. 2014, Franze et al. 2018). By limiting the duration and biomass of their blooms, diatoms can control their nutrient usage in a local environment and, possibly, control predator populations by reducing the amount of primary production available for secondary production.

#### Knowledge Gap and Research Questions

To date, studies on PUAs are largely restricted to pelagic diatoms, with comparatively little known about PUA production in benthic diatoms. One study from the Adriatic Sea showed that three abundant species of benthic diatoms produced PUAs (Pezzolesi et al. 2017). While the Salish Sea harbors pelagic PUA-producing diatoms like *Skeletonema* spp., the presence of benthic PUA-producers has not been explored (Wichard et al. 2005a, Paul et al. 2010). Given that PUAs can reduce both pelagic and benthic predator fecundity, it is imperative that we gain an understanding of benthic PUA production to form a more holistic view of their role in predator-prey dynamics across disparate marine environments.

In addition, no research has been done on the link between PUA production and environmental CO<sub>2</sub> level (pCO<sub>2</sub>), which changes frequently in coastal areas due to upwelling and vertical mixing associated with diel tidal cycles (Rippeth et al. 2014, Cai et al. 2020). During upwelling events, carbon- and nutrient-rich water from depth replenishes surface water moved offshore during Eckman transport (Huyer 1983). This phenomenon, combined with favorable light and temperature conditions, causes diatom blooms each spring and summer (Montero et al. 2017, Spilling et al. 2018). While ambient pCO<sub>2</sub> averages about 400 µatm in the global ocean, coastal upwelling in the Pacific Northwest can introduce CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched water with partial pressures as high as 1200 µatm (Haigh et al. 2015, Evans et al. 2021). Many species of phytoplankton respond favorably to carbon enrichment, likely a result of the poor affinity of pCO<sub>2</sub> binding in RubisCO (Bach et al. 2019, Sethi et al. 2020). Increased pCO<sub>2</sub> levels may alleviate inorganic carbon stress in diatoms and lead to increased carbon fixation and secondary metabolite production (Harvey et al. 2019). Carbon-rich PUA precursor molecules may be a repository for excess carbon produced during these high DIC upwelling events. In turn, this

could lead to increased PUA production. Establishing if there is a correlation between CO<sub>2</sub>enrichment and PUA production will inform whether upwelling-induced diatom blooms are a repository for PUA-enriched cells.

The purpose of this study was to 1) survey Salish Sea benthic diatoms for the production of PUAs, and 2) test the effect of elevated dissolved carbon dioxide ( $pCO_2$ ) concentrations on PUA production in both a pelagic and benthic diatom. The PUAs chosen for this analysis were 2,4-heptadienal (heptadienal), 2,4-octadienal (octadienal), and 2,4-decadienal (decadienal) due to their proven bioactivity, or ability to affect predator fecundity (Jüttner et al. 2010).

#### Methods

#### Study Site and Model Organisms

This research focused on pelagic and benthic diatom species residing in the Salish Sea. The pelagic diatom species, *Skeletonema marinoi*, is a known PUA producer and was purchased from the National Center for Marine Algae and Microbiota. Benthic diatom species were isolated from the Salish Sea.

#### Benthic Diatom Sampling, Isolation, and Identifications

Samples for benthic diatom isolation were collected during low tide events at Marine Park in Bellingham, Washington (48.7193° N, 122.5158° W) and at Shannon Point Marine Center sea tables in Anacortes, Washington (48.50805° N, 122.68427° W). Marine Park is a flat, cobble beach with eelgrass beds, and benthic diatom assemblages were collected from eelgrass blades. At the lab, individual diatoms were isolated using a micropipettor and washed several times using 9-well wash plates. Once isolated, diatoms were placed into 125 mL polycarbonate bottles with autoclaved filtered seawater (AFSW) amended with F/4 growth medium. Cultures were routinely assessed for purity. Diatom species were visualized using a combination of dissecting, compound, and scanning electron microscopy (SEM), and species identified by crossreferencing with published sources.

Eight benthic diatom species were isolated and identified from the Salish Sea. Identified species were *Fragilariopsis pseudonana*, *Licmophora communis*, *Licmophora flabellata*, *Cylindrotheca closterium*, *Fistulifera saprophila*, *Nitzschia* sp. a, *Nitzschia* sp. b, and *Navicula* sp. (Ehrenberg 1839, Hassle 1965, Lobban et al. 2011, Zgrundo et al. 2013, Kociolek et al. 2023, Figure 3). A minor contamination in the *C. closterium* culture was found during SEM imaging,

and the contaminant identified as *Navicula vara* (Witkowski et al. 2000, Figure 3e). No SEM images were taken for *Licmophora communis*.

#### Culture Maintenance

Diatom cultures were maintained in 125 mL polycarbonate bottles using AFSW amended with F/4 growth medium. Cultures were grown in environmental incubators on a 11:13 L:D cycle at 15°C. Once per week, cultures were homogenized by gentle mixing, reduced by 75%, and refilled with growth medium. For some benthic species, new polycarbonate bottles were used each week due to colonies sticking to the bottom of bottles.

#### Benthic Diatom Survey

Post-isolation, benthic diatoms were dispersed into triplicate glass bowls covered with saran wrap to minimize evaporation and filled with 200 mL AFSW amended with F/4 growth medium. After 6 days, each culture was filtered (10 mL) for chlorophyll quantification. The remaining volume (~190 mL) was filtered for PUA measurements, processed, and run on GC-MS for quantification. Each set of triplicate cultures were averaged for chlorophyll-*a* level and PUA production.

#### Upwelling Experimental Design

To test for the effect of CO<sub>2</sub>-enrichment on PUA production, a sealed bottle design was selected. This design was chosen as a method to replicate an isolated upwelling event in a subsurface water sample that is spatially isolated from the surface where air-sea gas exchange could occur (Figure 4).

The CO<sub>2</sub>-enrichment experiment was performed using the ocean acidification system described in Love et al. (2017). During experiments, the 400  $\mu$ atm *p*CO<sub>2</sub> level was chosen to

reflect present day ambient  $pCO_2$  (Riebesell et al. 2007). Elevated DIC levels (800 and 1200  $\mu$ atm) indicative of upwelling events were chosen based on Feely et al. (2008). The ambient  $pCO_2$  served as a control, while the other treatments represented DIC-rich water caused by upwelling. To create desired  $pCO_2$  levels, carbon-scrubbed ambient air was mixed with research grade CO<sub>2</sub> gas (99% CO<sub>2</sub>, AirGas) in known concentrations using mass flow controllers. This gas mixture was bubbled into carboys containing AFSW amended with F/4 growth medium for at least 24 hours and is referred to as pre-equilibrated media.

Within each carbon dioxide level, 500 mL of pre-equilibrated media was inoculated with 5 mL of dense diatom cultures (174.54  $\mu$ g chlorophyll-*a*/L for *Skeletonema marinoi* and 398.61  $\mu$ g chlorophyll-*a*/L for *Fragilariopsis pseudonana*) in quadruplicate (12 bottles per species) and sealed with Teflon tape. For each *p*CO<sub>2</sub> level, triplicate blank bottles (3 bottles each *p*CO<sub>2</sub> treatment) containing no diatoms were included to ensure pH and DIC changes were attributed solely to the diatoms, and not from outgassing of the system. Each day, all bottles were inverted to ensure homogenous *p*CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations within the bottles and were subsequently randomly placed back in the incubator. After six days, the experiment was terminated. At termination, samples were filtered (10 mL) for chlorophyll measurement, and the remaining for particulate PUA analysis. After filtration, all filters were frozen until processing.

#### Carbonate Chemistry

Prior to inoculation with diatoms, the carbonate chemistry of the media was assessed using a ThermoScientific Orion Star A121 pH probe, Apollo SciTech AS-C3 DIC Analyzer, and an Ocean Optics S-UV-VIS flame spectrophotometer. At the beginning of the experiment, one bottle from each treatment was randomly selected for daily carbonate chemistry monitoring.

Each day, the pH probe was used to monitor water pH. Every three days, carbonate chemistry was assessed using the DIC analyzer and UV-vis spectrophotometer. For pH analysis, water samples were warmed to 24.95°C and transferred to a 5 cm jacketed cuvette. The samples received two injections of 20mL m-cresol dye and absorbance was measured at 434, 578, and 730 nm wavelengths after each injection. For DIC analysis, samples were brought to room temperature, injected into the DIC analyzer with 10% phosphoric acid, and measured for total DIC. On the final day, pH and DIC analysis was performed on the bottles as described above, including one additional sealed bottle from each treatment.

All spectrophotometric and DIC analysis data from days zero, three, and six were input into CO2SYS to calculate pH (total scale), total DIC, and  $pCO_2$  (µatm) (Pelletier et al. 2012). Temperature and salinity at time of sampling were measured using the ThermoScientific pH probe.

#### Chlorophyll-a Quantification

Because cells of *S. marinoi* and *F. pseudonana* are small and difficult to count, chlorophyll-*a* was used to standardize PUA production between the cultures and  $pCO_2$ treatments. Uniformly mixed cultures (10 mL) were filtered onto GF/C filters, placed in test tubes containing 90% acetone (6 mL), and stored at -20°C to allow for chlorophyll extraction. The next day, samples were brought to room temperature in darkness and decanted into glass test tubes. Chlorophyll-*a* was quantified using a Trilogy fluorometer on acidification mode by measuring fluorescence before and after acidification with 1 M sulfuric acid (4 drops, Lorenzen 1967). Chlorophyll measurements were performed in quadruplicate at time zero and once for each culture at the end of the experiment. Diatom growth rates were calculated using time zero and time final chlorophyll-*a* concentrations assuming exponential growth.

#### Reagents

High grade hexane (>95%, J.T.Baker®) and methanol (>99.5%, Macron Fine Chemicals<sup>TM</sup>) were used for PUA extraction. *O*-(2,3,4,5,6-pentafluorobenzyl)hydroxylamine hydrochloride (PFBHA, derivatization grade >99%, Alfa Aesar) was used for PUA derivatization. Benzaldehyde (1000  $\mu$ g/mL, SPEX CertiPrep) was used as internal standard. Hexadecane-*d*34 (98 atom%, Sigma-Aldrich) was used as recovery standard. PUA standards of 2E,4E-heptadienal (>90%, TCI America), 2E,4E-octadienal (90%, Ambeed, Inc.), and 2E,4Edecadienal (>90%, TCI America) were used for instrument calibration with purities accounted for.

#### Particulate PUA Method

Cultures were brought to the Lemkau lab in the WWU Chemistry department for PUA analysis. Diatoms were isolated via vacuum filtration onto GF/C (1.2 µm) glass fiber filter. Vacuum was maintained under 500 mBar to prevent diatom cell wall disruption (Vidoudez et al. 2011). Filters were transferred into 4 mL vials containing 1 mL PFBHA (25 mM) in Tris/HCl (100 mM, pH 7.0) derivatization agent and 5 µL benzaldehyde internal standard (1 mM) and frozen at -20°C. Samples were thawed completely, and the freeze/thaw process was repeated twice more to ensure cell lysing. After the last thaw, the samples were kept at room temperature for one hour to allow the derivatization reactions of released PUAs to occur. After derivatization, the samples were frozen again. After removal from the freezer, methanol (0.5 mL) was added to each sample, and they were thawed completely. Samples were extracted with hexane (1 mL), acidified with sulfuric acid (6 drops, 1 M) and centrifuged at 1735 g for 2 minutes to break any emulsion created by cell disruption. The organic layer was pipetted off and transferred to a clean

4 mL vial. Samples were extracted twice more with 0.5 mL and 0.3 mL hexane, respectively. Hexane extracts were combined, anhydrous sodium sulfate added to remove any remaining water, and dried extracts transferred to a clean 4 mL vial. Samples were dried under nitrogen. Residues were brought up in hexane (95 μL) and transferred to a GC vial with hexadecane-*d*34 (5 μL, 0.226 mg/mL) as a recovery standard. After vortexing, samples were wrapped with Teflon tape and stored at -80°C until GC-MS analysis the next day.

#### Gas Chromatography Parameters

Samples were analyzed via gas chromatography with detection via mass spectrometer (GC-MS). The instrument consisted of a HP 6890 split/splitless gas chromatograph equipped with an Agilent 7683 autosampler and coupled to a HP 5973 quadrupole mass spectrometer. Separations were performed on a Agilent HP-5MS column (30 m, 0.250 mm internal diameter with 0.25 µm film thickness) programmed from 60°C (2 minute hold), ramped to 240°C at 8°C/min, then to 285°C at 15°C/min. Helium was used as the carrier gas at a constant rate of 1.5 mL/min. Data was collected in SIM mode (100 ms dwell time). PUA identification was performed using their respective molecular ions, including m/z 305 (heptadienal), 319 (octadienal), and 347 (decadienal)- and of major ions- m/z 57 (alkanes), 66 (hexadecane-*d*34), 181 (all PFBHA-derivatized aldehydes), and 276 (all PUA molecules) (Table 1, Figure A2).

#### PUA Quantification

PUA quantification was performed using methods adapted from Vidoudez et al. (2011). In brief, PUAs were quantified by comparing the benzaldehyde internal standard peak area to each PUA molecular ion. Recoveries were calculated based on internal (benzaldehyde) and external (hexadecane-d34) peak areas, taking into account instrument response factors. Response factors were calculated via an external calibration curve.

Method detection limit (MDL) and quantification limit (MQL) were determined following Glaser et al. (1981). These limits were used for PUAs produced by each culture, and PUAs above the limit of quantification were standardized using measured chlorophyll-*a* values (nmol per  $\mu$ g chlorophyll-*a*). Pre-standardization values below the quantification limit were substituted with MDL/2 for statistical analysis. MDL and MQL values are shown in Table 2.

#### Statistical Analyses

Two-way ANOVAs were used to assess for differences of PUA production between treatments. Prior to each analysis, the assumptions of normality and equal variance were tested using a Shapiro-Wilk test and Levene's test, respectively, using  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Log and square root transformations were performed on the data to meet the assumptions if needed, and tests were run using the transformed data. Tests included 1) production of individual PUA molecules across  $pCO_2$  level in *S. marinoi*, 2) production of individual PUA molecules across  $pCO_2$  level in *F. pseudonana*, and 3) production of total PUA molecules across  $pCO_2$  level in both species. If significance was observed, Tukey's *post-hoc* tests were performed to assess differences across factor levels.

#### Results

#### Benthic Survey

All eight benthic diatom species surveyed produced at least one of the three monitored PUAs in detectable amounts (Figure 5). While production of at least one PUA was quantifiable for each diatom species, the amount of PUA produced varied between species, with means ranging from 0.6 pmol/ $\mu$ g chlorophyll-*a* (*L. communis*, decadienal) to 0.14 nmol/ $\mu$ g chlorophyll-*a* (*F. pseudonana*, octadienal). Both heptadienal and decadienal were detected in all eight species tested, while octadienal was detected in seven of the eight species. Replicate cultures in several diatom species had undetectable decadienal, thus data for these cultures is only based on one replicate.

#### Upwelling Experiment

#### Water Chemistry and Diatom Growth

Throughout the experiment, water chemistry in cultures containing diatoms decreased in  $pCO_2$  concentration and increased in pH.  $pCO_2$  levels in the pre-equilibrated media were slightly higher (4-6%) than target values of 400, 800, and 1200 µatm (Figure 6). In *S. marinoi* cultures,  $pCO_2$  concentrations decreased, with greater than 90% uptake from initial  $pCO_2$  concentrations. pH increased by approximately 1 pH unit for each culture (Figure 7). In *F. pseudonana* cultures, similar trends were observed.  $pCO_2$  decreased by 75-81% and pH increased by about 0.5 pH units for each culture. No change in pH or decline in  $pCO_2$  was observed in control bottles.

Between the two species and across all  $pCO_2$  treatments, *S. marinoi* drew down more  $pCO_2$  over the course of the experiment than *F. pseudonana* (Figure 6). *S. marinoi* consumed about 66, 131, and 193 µatm  $pCO_2$  per day in the 400, 800, and 1200 µatm treatments,

respectively. *F. pseudonana* consumed about 53, 112, and 170 µatm  $pCO_2$  per day at the same levels. Both species changed their carbon uptake rate depending on the  $pCO_2$  treatment, drawing down more  $pCO_2$  as  $pCO_2$  concentration increased. This increase of carbon uptake cannot be attributed to a difference in biomass for either species. All bottles for each species received the same amount of inoculation biomass at the start of the experiment, and diatom growth rates were similar (Table 3).

#### PUA Results

For *S. marinoi*, *p*CO<sub>2</sub> level had no significant effect on the production of PUA molecules (p = 0.294, Figure 8a, b, and c). There was, however, a significant difference in the amount of the different PUA molecules (e.g., heptadienal produced at higher concentrations than decadienal), but this was independent of *p*CO<sub>2</sub> level (Figure 8a, b, and c, Table A5). No significant interaction was found between PUA molecule production and *p*CO<sub>2</sub> level (p = 0.903).

For *F. pseudonana*, a significant difference in PUA production was observed across  $pCO_2$  level (p = 0.026, Figure 9a, b, and c). *Post-hoc* analysis indicated significantly higher production of PUAs in the 400 µatm  $pCO_2$  treatment compared to 1200 µatm (p = 0.028). Similar to *S. marinoi*, significant differences in the amount of the PUA molecules produced by *F. pseudonana* were observed (e.g., octadienal produced at higher concentrations than decadienal), independent of  $pCO_2$  level (Figure 9a, b, and c, Table A5). No significant interaction was found between PUA molecule and  $pCO_2$  level (p = 0.594).

Comparing total PUA molecule production in both diatom species, *S. marinoi* produced significantly higher concentrations of PUAs than *F. pseudonana*, ranging from five- to nine-times higher depending on pCO<sub>2</sub>level (p << 0.001, Figure 8d, 9d).

#### Discussion

#### Major Findings

This is the first study to show PUA production in benthic diatoms outside of the Adriatic Sea. The results of the Salish Sea benthic PUA producer survey showed that all eight benthic diatom species isolated were found to be producers of at least two types of PUAs (Figure 5). Further, there was no evidence that PUAs serve as a carbon repository under elevated dissolved inorganic carbon concentration. In the upwelling experiment, only one treatment showed elevated  $pCO_2$  levels had any effect on the production of PUA molecules in both diatom species but did impact carbon uptake rates in each species tested.

#### Benthic PUA Production in the Salish Sea

Given the ubiquity of PUA-producing diatoms in the pelagic zone and benthic presence in the Adriatic Sea, PUA-producing benthic diatoms were likely to be present in the Salish Sea. This was correct, as all eight benthic diatom species isolated produced PUA molecules in varying concentrations, depending on diatom species and molecule type. This result agrees with the Adriatic Sea benthic survey, where all three diatoms studied were found to produce some type of PUA (Pezzolesi et al. 2017). Most benthic diatoms surveyed here produced all three of the monitored PUAs, with octadienal produced in the highest concentrations and decadienal in the lowest. This result contradicts other PUA survey studies, including from pelagic diatoms, where heptadienal and other C7 PUAs were produced in the highest concentrations (Vidoudez et al. 2011). Decadienal and other C10 PUAs have consistently been observed in lower concentrations over C6, C7, and C8 PUAs (Wichard et al. 2005, Pezzolesi et al. 2017). The disparity in concentrations of different PUAs produced by the benthic diatoms surveyed here prompts the question: why are PUA molecules produced in different quantities? Some studies exploring the fecundity reduction effect of PUAs on benthic invertebrates have found a difference in bioactivity of PUA molecules, with decadienal having the highest bioactivity and octadienal the lowest (Varella et al. 2014). This bioactivity was assessed, however, using individual PUA molecules. PUA molecules in mixtures have synergistic effects and are more toxic than individual PUAs alone; PUA mixtures can deform benthic invertebrate offspring at lower concentrations in comparison to single PUAs (Romano et al. 2010, Ruocco et al. 2019). Given this difference in bioactivity and mixture synergy, diatoms may contain varying amounts of different PUA precursor molecules to cause an embryogenic effect at lower concentrations.

Given PUA's documented impact on predator fecundity, widespread production of PUAs in benthic diatoms of the Salish Sea has significant ecological implications (Romano et al. 2010, Varella et al. 2014, Ruocco et al. 2019). Benthic diatoms are the primary food source for many benthic consumers, including protists, molluscs, and other invertebrates like crabs (Fenchel 1968, Zimba et al. 2016, Fenoglio et al. 2020, Haynert et al. 2020). In addition, benthic diatoms bloom in early spring, when benthic invertebrates (e.g., intertidal snails) reproduce (Spight 1976). The synchrony of these events suggests that benthic diatoms could be a primary food source during invertebrate reproduction, and diatom PUAs a pathway for disrupted embryogenesis in invertebrate offspring (Varella et al. 2014). When organisms consume PUAproducing diatoms, inadvertent accumulation of PUAs in gonadal tissues can cause a direct transfer of PUAs into offspring eggs where lipid requirement is high, which may reduce egg viability, hatching success, and embryogenesis, as is seen in copepods (Ban et al. 1997, Ianora et

al. 1999). Benthic diatom consumers link primary production to higher trophic levels of the pelagic and benthic environments. If benthic PUA production causes a negative effect on consumer fecundity, then widespread PUA production could mean that benthic-derived PUAs have a greater influence on marine food webs than previously thought. In addition, various benthic diatoms, including the diatom *C. closterium* (found to be a PUA producer in the current study), have recently been used and recommended as a food source for population recovery of an endangered species of abalone, *Haliotis kamtschatkana* (Kuehl 2020). While benthic diatom diets may support organismal somatic growth and development, long-term feeding may have fecundity repercussions that delay overall recovery.

#### Upwelling Experiment

While elevated  $pCO_2$  could reasonably be thought to increase PUA concentrations within diatom cells due to more efficient carbon uptake, I found that  $pCO_2$  enrichment had little effect on PUA dynamics. In *S. marinoi*, no significant difference was observed in PUA production across  $pCO_2$  level. However, a minor effect was observed in *F. pseudonana*, whereby lower PUA production was observed at 1200 µatm  $pCO_2$  than at 400 µatm  $pCO_2$ .

The  $pCO_2$  concentrations that diatoms were exposed to impacted their carbon uptake rates. Both diatoms increased their  $pCO_2$  uptake rate under higher initial  $pCO_2$  concentrations, a finding consistent with other carbon enrichment studies (Taucher et al. 2015, Bach et al. 2019). Given that diatom growth rates were the same across  $pCO_2$  level, this suggests that carbon is being allocated to something other than population growth. In addition, an increase in environmental  $pCO_2$  can cause a down-regulation of CCMs, as  $pCO_2$  is acquired more efficiently from the environment at higher concentrations (Wu et al. 2010, Shi et al. 2015). If CCMs are

downregulated, both more energy and carbon are available to the diatoms, which could lead to greater production of secondary metabolites, such as PUAs. While the diatoms drew down increasing levels of  $pCO_2$ , my findings showed little effect of  $pCO_2$  on PUA production. This suggests that carbon-based molecules other than PUAs are produced. In a mesocosm study exploring the effect of elevated  $pCO_2$  on plankton communities, Riebesell et al. (2007) found a four-fold increase in concentration of carbon-rich transparent exopolymer particles under elevated  $pCO_2$  conditions. In the current work, *F. pseudonana* PUA production was significantly lower in the 1200 µatm treatment (Figure 9). Excess carbon uptake in this CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched treatment could have gone towards production of exopolymers and other metabolites. This suggests pathways beyond PUA production for organically fixed carbon in high  $pCO_2$  concentrations, and excess production of these metabolites is a topic for future studies.

Diatom grazers like copepods are the link between primary production and higher trophic levels. If elevated  $pCO_2$  level and a resultant increase in diatom PUAs was observed, any reduced grazer fecundity from elevated PUAs would have potential cascading ecological effects. For example, a decline in copepod and/or invertebrate grazer offspring through PUA ingestion would cause a multi-level trophic effect in an ecosystem, whereby future secondary production would be inhibited. However, the results here indicate that elevated levels of  $pCO_2$  did not increase PUA production in diatoms, and therefore seasonal upwelling is likely not causing an increase in PUA production. If increased exopolymer production results from diatom exposure to elevated DIC, there may be an impact on the efficiency of the biological pump (Sigman & Hain 2012, Basu & Mackey 2018). Instead of increased DIC uptake leading to particulate diatom production, the inorganic carbon is seemingly fixed to dissolved forms of organic carbon, thus fueling the microbial loop rather than fueling high export production (Daly et al. 2021). In contrast, an increase in exopolymer production could cause greater amounts of marine snow aggregation, increasing export and therefore efficiency of the biological pump (Turner 2015).

Not explored in this study is the potential synergy between  $pCO_2$  level and nutrient limitation. PUA production is impacted by nutrient availability, particularly nitrogen and phosphorus, likely because of their impact on protein and enzyme formation (Ribalet et al. 2009, Vidoudez 2011, Cózar et al. 2018). Lipoxygenase enzymes are needed to process PUAprecursors and form PUA molecules, and limiting protein-building nutrients would impact enzyme expression (Orefice et al. 2022). Whereas upwelling delivers elevated  $pCO_2$ concentrations and nutrients to surface waters seasonally, oceanic  $pCO_2$  concentrations are expected to rise as climate change intensifies without the seasonal delivery of inorganic nutrients (Gallego et al. 2018). Future studies could assess PUA production under ocean acidification scenarios (e.g., elevated  $pCO_2$  and limiting nutrients) to test this synergy. This could reveal PUA production dynamics tied to  $pCO_2$  levels not explored in the current work and may help us understand future diatom trophic dynamics.

#### Future Directions

The results of the benthic diatom survey highlight the need to include benthic diatoms in PUA research. Most studies exploring the effects of PUAs on benthic invertebrates have only used dissolved PUAs to assess their impact on predator fecundity, not direct uptake of particulate PUAs via maternal diatom consumption (e.g., Varella et al. 2014). Predator fecundity studies using PUA-producing pelagic diatom diets have shown similar responses to particulate and dissolved PUAs (Ianora et al. 1999, Miralto et al. 1999). The confirmation of benthic PUA producers in the Salish Sea highlights this gap in research. In future studies, benthic invertebrates

that consume diatoms can be fed PUA producers to replicate *in situ* trophic dynamics using particulate PUAs, and fecundity assessed.

Caldwell et al. (2004) have also shown that benthic invertebrate sperm density and motility decreased when exposed to dissolved PUAs. Given many benthic invertebrates utilize broadcast spawning for reproduction, the presence of dissolved PUAs could have a broader impact on trophic dynamics than previously thought (Crimaldi & Zimmer 2014). Benthic diatoms also inhabit substrates like eelgrass, where organisms like forage fish and invertebrates lay their eggs (Ruocco et al. 2019). Thus, organisms and their offspring are in the immediate environment of PUA-producing diatoms through numerous stages of faunal reproduction and development. Dissolved PUA concentrations are yet to be measured in the Salish Sea, and their measurement and seasonal monitoring could be useful in assessing their potential role on other trophic dynamics in the Salish Sea.

#### Literature Cited

- Agusti, S., González-Gordillo, J. I., Vaqué, D., Estrada, M., Cerezo, M. I., Salazar, G., Gasol, J. M., & Duarte, C. M. (2015). Ubiquitous healthy diatoms in the deep sea confirm deep carbon injection by the biological pump. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8608</u>
- Althouse, B., Higgins, S., & Vander Zanden, M. J. (2014). Benthic and planktonic primary production along a nutrient gradient in Green Bay, Lake Michigan, USA. *Freshwater Science*, 33(2), 487–498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/676314</u>
- Arendt, K. E., Jónasdóttir, S. H., Hansen, P. J., & Gärtner, S. (2005). Effects of dietary fatty acids on the reproductive success of the calanoid copepod *Temora longicornis*. *Marine Biology*, 146(3), 513–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1457-9</u>
- Armbrust, E. V. (2009). The life of diatoms in the world's oceans. *Nature*, 459(7244), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08057
- Bach, L. T., Hernández-Hernández, N., Taucher, J., Spisla, C., Sforna, C., Riebesell, U., & Arístegui, J. (2019). Effects of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> on a natural diatom community in the subtropical north east Atlantic. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.898596</u>
- Ban, S., Burns, C., Castel, J., Chaudron, Y., Christou, E., Escribano, R., Umani, S. F., Gasparini, S., Ruiz, F. G., Hoffmeyer, M., Ianora, A., Kang, H.-K., Laabir, M., Lacoste, A., Miralto, A., Ning, X., Poulet, S., Rodriguez, V., Runge, J., ... Wang, Y. (1997). The paradox of diatom-copepod interactions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 157, 287–293.
- Basu, S., & Mackey, K. R. M. (2018). Phytoplankton as key mediators of the biological carbon pump: their responses to a changing climate. *Sustainability*, 10(3), Article 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10030869</u>
- Belluz, J., Pena, M. A., Jackson, J. M., & Nemcek, N. (2021). Phytoplankton composition and environmental drivers in the northern Strait of Georgia (Salish Sea), British Columbia, Canada. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 44(5), 1419–1439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-020-00858-2</u>
- Benoiston, A.-S., Ibarbalz, F. M., Bittner, L., Guidi, L., Jahn, O., Dutkiewicz, S., & Bowler, C. (2017). The evolution of diatoms and their biogeochemical functions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 372(1728), 20160397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0397</u>
- Bondoc, K. G., Lembke, C., Vyverman, W., & Pohnert, G. (2018). Selective chemoattraction of the benthic diatom *Seminavis robusta* to phosphate but not to inorganic nitrogen sources contributes to biofilm structuring. *MicrobiologyOpen*, 8(4), e00694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.694</u>

- Cahoon, L. B. (1999). The role of benthic microalgae in neritic ecosystems. In A. D. Ansell, R. N. Gibson, & M. Barnes (Eds.), *Oceanography and Marine Biology, Vol 37: An Annual Review* (Vol. 37, pp. 47–86). Taylor & Francis Ltd. https://www.webofscience.com/wos/woscc/full-record/WOS:000089737800002
- Cai, W.-J., Feely, R. A., Testa, J. M., Li, M., Evans, W., Alin, S. R., Xu, Y.-Y., Pelletier, G., Ahmed, A., Greeley, D. J., Newton, J. A., & Bednaršek, N. (2021). Natural and anthropogenic drivers of acidification in large estuaries. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 13(1), 23–55. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-010419-011004
- Caldwell, G. S., Bentley, M. G., & Olive, P. J. W. (2004). First evidence of sperm motility inhibition by the diatom aldehyde 2E,4E-decadienal. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 273, 97–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps273097</u>
- Caldwell, G. S., Olive, P. J. W., & Bentley, M. G. (2002). Inhibition of embryonic development and fertilization in broadcast spawning marine invertebrates by water soluble diatom extracts and the diatom toxin 2-trans,4-trans decadienal. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 60(1), 123– 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00277-6
- Christianen, M. J. A., Middelburg, J. J., Holthuijsen, S. J., Jouta, J., Compton, T. J., van der Heide, T., Piersma, T., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., van der Veer, H. W., Schouten, S., & Olff, H. (2017). Benthic primary producers are key to sustain the Wadden Sea food web: Stable carbon isotope analysis at landscape scale. *Ecology*, *98*(6), 1498–1512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1837</u>
- Clarke, G. L. (1939). The relation between diatoms and copepods as a factor in the productivity of the sea. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 14(1), 60–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/394576</u>
- Coutteau. (1996). Manual on the production and use of live food for aquaculture. *Laboratory of Aquaculture & Artemia Reference Center*, 361.
- Cozar, A., Morillo-Garcia, S., Ortega, M. J., Li, Q. P., & Bartual, A. (2018). Macroecological patterns of the phytoplankton production of polyunsaturated aldehydes. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 12282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29787-8</u>
- Crimaldi, J. P., & Zimmer, R. K. (2014). The physics of broadcast spawning in benthic invertebrates. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, *6*(1), 141–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-010213-135119</u>
- Cummins, P. L. (2021). The coevolution of RubisCO, photorespiration, and carbon concentrating mechanisms in higher plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2021.662425</u>
- da Silva, A. F., Lourenço, S. O., & Chaloub, R. M. (2009). Effects of nitrogen starvation on the photosynthetic physiology of a tropical marine microalga *Rhodomonas* sp.

(Cryptophyceae). *Aquatic Botany*, *91*(4), 291–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2009.08.001

- Daly, G., Perrin, E., Viti, C., Fondi, M. and Adessi, A. (2021). Scaling down the microbial loop: data-driven modelling of growth interactions in a diatom–bacterium co-culture. *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, 13: 945-954. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-2229.13010</u>
- Ehrenberg, C.G. (1839). Über jetzt wirklich noch zahlreich lebende Thier-Arten der Kreideformation der Erde. Bericht über die zur Bekanntmachung geeigneten Verhandlungen der Königlich-Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, 1839: 152-159 page(s): p. 157.
- Evans, W., Lebon, G. T., Harrington, C. D., Takeshita, Y., & Bidlack, A. (2021). Marine CO<sub>2</sub> system variability along the inside passage of the pacific northwest coast of North America determined from an Alaskan ferry. *Biogeochemistry: Coastal Ocean*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-2021-266</u>
- Falkowski, P. G., Katz, M. E., Knoll, A. H., Quigg, A., Raven, J. A., Schofield, O., & Taylor, F. J. R. (2004). The evolution of modern eukaryotic phytoplankton. *Science*, 305(5682), 354–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1095964</u>
- Fawcett, S. E., & Ward, B. B. (2011). Phytoplankton succession and nitrogen utilization during the development of an upwelling bloom. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 428, 13–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09070</u>
- Feely, R. A., Sabine, C. L., Hernandez-Ayon, J. M., Ianson, D., & Hales, B. (2008). Evidence for upwelling of corrosive "acidified" water onto the continental shelf. *Science*, 320(5882), 1490–1492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1155676</u>
- Fenoglio, S., Tierno de Figueroa, J. M., Doretto, A., Falasco, E., & Bona, F. (2020). Aquatic insects and benthic diatoms: a history of biotic relationships in freshwater ecosystems. *Water*, 12(10), Article 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w12102934</u>
- Franze, G., Pierson, J. J., Stoecker, D. K., & Lavrentyev, P. J. (2018). Diatom-produced allelochemicals trigger trophic cascades in the planktonic food web. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 63(3), 1093–1108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10756</u>
- Gallego, M. A., Timmermann, A., Friedrich, T., & Zeebe, R. E. (2018). Drivers of future seasonal cycle changes of oceanic *p*CO<sub>2</sub>. *Biogeochemistry: Open Ocean*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-2018-212</u>
- Glaser, J., Foerst, D., McKee, G., Quave, S., Budde, W. (1981). Trace analyses for wastewaters. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 15 (12), 1426-1435. Doi.org/10.1021/es00094a002

- Haigh, R., Ianson, D., Holt, C. A., Neate, H. E., & Edwards, A. M. (2015). Effects of ocean acidification on temperate coastal marine ecosystems and fisheries in the Northeast Pacific. *PLOS ONE*, 10(2), e0117533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117533</u>
- Hamm, C. E., Merkel, R., Springer, O., Jurkojc, P., Maier, C., Prechtel, K., & Smetacek, V. (2003). Architecture and material properties of diatom shells provide effective mechanical protection. *Nature*, 421(6925), Article 6925. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01416</u>
- Harvey, B. P., Agostini, S., Kon, K., Wada, S., & Hall-Spencer, J. M. (2019). Diatoms dominate and alter marine food-webs when CO<sub>2</sub> rises. *Diversity*, 11(12), 242. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/d11120242</u>
- Hasle, G.R. (1965). *Nitzschia* and *Fragilariopsis* species studied in the light and electron microscope. III. The genus *Fragilariopsis*. Skrifter utgitt av Det Norske Videnskaps-Akademi i Oslo, Matematisk-naturvidenskapelig klasse, Ny Ser., 21: 49 pp., 17pls page(s): v. 21: p. 22; pl. 1, fig. 7-14, pl. 4, fig. 20-21, pl. 8, fig. 1-9, pl. 17, fig. 6.
- Haynert, K., Gluderer, F., Pollierer, M. M., Scheu, S., & Wehrmann, A. (2020). Food spectrum and habitat-specific diets of benthic foraminifera from the Wadden Sea – a fatty acid biomarker approach. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars.2020.510288
- Huyer, A. (1983). Coastal upwelling in the California current system. *Progress in Oceanography*, 12: 259–284.
- Ianora, A., Miralto, A., & Poulet, S. A. (1999). Are diatoms good or toxic for copepods? Reply to comment by Jónasdóttir et al. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 177, 305–308.
- Ianora, A., Miralto, A., Poulet, S. A., Carotenuto, Y., Buttino, I., Romano, G., Casotti, R., Pohnert, G., Wichard, T., Colucci-D'Amato, L., Terrazzano, G., & Smetacek, V. (2004). Aldehyde suppression of copepod recruitment in blooms of a ubiquitous planktonic diatom. *Nature*, 429(6990), 403–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02526</u>
- Jonge, V. N. (1985). The occurrence of 'epipsammic' diatom populations: A result of interaction between physical sorting of sediment and certain properties of diatom species. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *21*(5), 607–622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7714(85)90061-7</u>
- Jüttner, F., Messina, P., Patalano, C., & Zupo, V. (2010). Odour compounds of the diatom Cocconeis scutellum: Effects on benthic herbivores living on Posidonia oceanica. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 400, 63–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08381</u>
- Kamp, A., de Beer, D., Nitsch, J. L., Lavik, G., & Stief, P. (2011). Diatoms respire nitrate to survive dark and anoxic conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(14), 5649–5654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1015744108</u>

Kaparapu, J. (2018). Application of microalgae in aquaculture. Phykos, 48(1), 21-26.

Klein, D. (2011). Organic Chemistry (1st ed., pp. 932). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

- Kociolek, J.P., Blanco, S., Coste, M., Ector, L., Liu, Y., Karthick, B., Kulikovskiy, M., Lundholm, N., Ludwig, T., Potapova, M., Rimet, F., Sabbe, K., Sala, S., Sar, E., Taylor, J., Van de Vijver, B., Wetzel, C.E., Williams, D.M., Witkowski, A., Witkowski, J. (2023). DiatomBase. *Licmophora communis* (Heiberg) Grunow, 1881.
- Kuehl, L. M. (2020). Survival, growth, and radula morphology of postlarval pinto abalone (*Haliotis kamtschatkana*) when fed six species of benthic diatoms.
- Kumaran, J., Jose, B., Joseph, V., & Singh, I. S. B. (2017). Optimization of growth requirements of marine diatom *Chaetoceros muelleri* using response surface methodology. *Aquaculture Research*, 48(4), 1513–1524. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12987</u>
- Legendre, L. (1990). The significance of microalgal blooms for fisheries and for the export of particulate organic carbon in oceans. *Journal of Plankton Research*, *12*(4), 681–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/12.4.681</u>
- Lepetit, B., Gélin, G., Lepetit, M., Sturm, S., Vugrinec, S., Rogato, A., Kroth, P. G., Falciatore, A., & Lavaud, J. (2017). The diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* adjusts nonphotochemical fluorescence quenching capacity in response to dynamic light via fine-tuned Lhcx and xanthophyll cycle pigment synthesis. *The New Phytologist*, 214(1), 205–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14337</u>
- Leynaert, A., Fardel, C., Beker, B., Soler, C., Delebecq, G., Lemercier, A., Pondaven, P., Durand, P. E., & Heggarty, K. (2018). Diatom frustules nanostructure in pelagic and benthic environments. *Silicon*, 10(6), 2701–2709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12633-018-9809-0</u>
- Liu, H., Chen, M., Zhu, F., & Harrison, P. (2016). Effect of diatom silica content on copepod grazing, growth and reproduction. *Mar. Sci.*, 3(89). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00089</u>
- Lixia, S., Zhangxi, H., & Yingzhong, T. (2019). Identification of dissolved and particulate carbonyl compounds produced by marine harmful algal bloom species. *Journal of Oceanology and Limnology*, 37(5), 1566–1581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-019-8199-5</u>
- Lobban, C., Schefter, M., & Ruck, E. (2011). *Licmophora flucticulata* sp. Nov. (Licmophoraceae, Bacillariophyceae), an unusual flabellate species from Guam and Palau. *Phycologia*, 50, 11–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.2216/09-85.1</u>
- Lorenzen, C. J. (1967). Determination of chlorophyll and pheo-pigments: spectrophotometric equations. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *12*(2), 343–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1967.12.2.0343</u>

- Love, B. A., Olson, M. B., & Wuori, T. (2017). Technical Note: A minimally invasive experimental system for *p*CO<sub>2</sub> manipulation in plankton cultures using passive gas exchange (atmospheric carbon control simulator). *Biogeosciences*, *14*(10), 2675–2684. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-2675-2017
- Malej, A., & Harris, R. P. (1993). Inhibition of copepod grazing by diatom exudates: A factor in the development of mucus aggregates? *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 96(1), 33–42.
- Mann, D. G. (1999). The species concept in diatoms. *Phycologia*, 38(6), 437–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.2216/i0031-8884-38-6-437.1</u>
- Matsuda, Y., Hopkinson, B. M., Nakajima, K., Dupont, C. L., & Tsuji, Y. (2017). Mechanisms of carbon dioxide acquisition and CO<sub>2</sub> sensing in marine diatoms: A gateway to carbon metabolism. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 372(1728), 20160403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0403</u>
- Miralto, A., Barone, G., Romano, G., Poulet, S. A., Ianora, A., Russo, G. L., Buttino, I., Mazzarella, G., Laabir, M., Cabrini, M., & Giacobbe, M. G. (1999). The insidious effect of diatoms on copepod reproduction. *Nature*, 402(6758), 173–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/46023</u>
- Montero, P., Daneri, G., Tapia, F., Luis Iriarte, J., & Crawford, D. (2017). Diatom blooms and primary production in a channel ecosystem of central Patagonia. *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Research*, 45(5), 999–1016. <u>https://doi.org/10.3856/vol45-issue5-fulltext-16</u>
- Nelson, D., Treguer, P., Brzezinski, M., Leynaert, A., & Queguiner, B. (1995). Production and dissolution of biogenic silica in the ocean—revised global estimates, comparison with regional data and relationship to biogenic sedimentation. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 9(3), 359–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/95GB01070</u>
- Nisbet, E., Grassineau, N., Howe, C., Abell, P., Regelous, M., & Nisbet, R. (2007). The age of RubisCO: The evolution of oxygenic photosynthesis. *Geobiology*, *5*(4).
- Orefice, I., Di Dato, V., Sardo, A., Lauritano, C., & Romano, G. (2022). Lipid mediators in marine diatoms. *Aquatic Ecology*, 56(2), 377–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-021-09932-8</u>
- Paul, B. M. (2010). Polyunsaturated aldehyde production by a temporally varying field assemblage of diatoms in the San Juan Island archipelago: Can diatom metabolites affect microzooplankton grazing? 129.
- Pelletier, G., Lewis, E., & Wallace, D. (2012). A calculator for the CO<sub>2</sub> system in seawater for Microsoft Excel/VBA. Washington State Department of Ecology.

- Pezzolesi, L., Pichierri, S., Samorì, C., Totti, C., & Pistocchi, R. (2017). PUFAs and PUAs production in three benthic diatoms from the northern Adriatic Sea. *Phytochemistry*, 142, 85–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2017.06.018</u>
- Reid, A., Buchanan, F., Julius, M., & J. Walsh, P. (2021). A review on diatom biosilicification and their adaptive ability to uptake other metals into their frustules for potential application in bone repair. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 9(34), 6728–6737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D1TB00322D</u>
- Ribalet, F., Bastianini, M., Vidoudez, C., Acri, F., Berges, J., Ianora, A., Miralto, A., Pohnert, G., Romano, G., Wichard, T., & Casotti, R. (2014). Phytoplankton cell lysis associated with polyunsaturated aldehyde release in the northern Adriatic Sea. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e85947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085947</u>
- Ribalet, F., Berges, J. A., Ianora, A., & Casotti, R. (2007). Growth inhibition of cultured marine phytoplankton by toxic algal-derived polyunsaturated aldehydes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 85(3), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.09.006
- Ribalet, F., Vidoudez, C., Cassin, D., Pohnert, G., Ianora, A., Miralto, A., & Casotti, R. (2009). High plasticity in the production of diatom-derived polyunsaturated aldehydes under nutrient limitation: physiological and ecological implications. *Protist*, 160(3), 444–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protis.2009.01.003</u>
- Riebesell U, Schulz KG, Bellerby RG, Botros M, Fritsche P, Meyerhöfer M, Neill C, Nondal G, Oschlies A, Wohlers J, Zöllner E. (2007). Enhanced biological carbon consumption in a high CO<sub>2</sub> ocean. *Nature*, 450(7169):545-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06267
- Rippeth, T. P., Lincoln, B. J., Kennedy, H. A., Palmer, M. R., Sharples, J., & Williams, C. a. J. (2014). Impact of vertical mixing on sea surface pCO<sub>2</sub> in temperate seasonally stratified shelf seas. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 119(6), 3868–3882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JC010089</u>
- Roberts, K., Granum, E., Leegood, R. C., & Raven, J. A. (2007). C3 and C4 pathways of photosynthetic carbon assimilation in marine diatoms are under genetic, not environmental, control. *Plant Physiology*, 145(1), 230–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.107.102616</u>
- Romano, G., Miralto, A., & Ianora, A. (2010). Teratogenic effects of diatom metabolites on sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* embryos. *Marine Drugs*, 8(4), Article 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md8040950</u>
- Ruocco, N., Costantini, S., Zupo, V., Lauritano, C., Caramiello, D., Ianora, A., Budillon, A., Romano, G., Nuzzo, G., D'Ippolito, G., Fontana, A., & Costantini, M. (2018). Toxigenic effects of two benthic diatoms upon grazing activity of the sea urchin: Morphological, metabolomic and de novo transcriptomic analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 5622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24023-9</u>

- Sethi, D., Butler, T. O., Shuhaili, F., & Vaidyanathan, S. (2020). Diatoms for carbon sequestration and bio-based manufacturing. *Biology*, 9(8), 217. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biology9080217</u>
- Sigman, D., & Hain, M. (2012). The biological productivity of the ocean: Section 3. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 3(10): 19.
- Spilling, K., Olli, K., Lehtoranta, J., Kremp, A., Tedesco, L., Tamelander, T., Klais, R., Peltonen, H., & Tamminen, T. (2018). Shifting diatom-dinoflagellate dominance during spring bloom in the Baltic Sea and its potential effects on biogeochemical cycling. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5, 327. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00327</u>
- Sumper, M., & Brunner, E. (2006). Learning from diatoms: nature's tools for the production of nanostructured silica. *Advanced Functional Materials*, 16(1), 17–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.200500616</u>
- Taylor, J., Harding, B., & Archibald, C. (2007). An illustrated guide to some common diatom species from South Africa.
- Taylor, R. L., Abrahamsson, K., Godhe, A., & Wängberg, S.-Å. (2009). Seasonal variability in polyunsaturated aldehyde production potential among strains of *Skeletonema marinoi* (bacillariophyceae)1. *Journal of Phycology*, 45(1), 46–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2008.00625.x</u>
- Tolhurst, T. J., Consalvey, M., & Paterson, D. M. (2008). Changes in cohesive sediment properties associated with the growth of a diatom biofilm. *Hydrobiologia*, 596(1), 225–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-007-9099-9
- Tong, C. Y., & Derek, C. J. C. (2021). Biofilm formation of benthic diatoms on commercial polyvinylidene fluoride membrane. *Algal Research*, 55, 102260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2021.102260</u>
- Tortell, P. D., Reinfelder, J. R., & Morel, F. M. M. (1997). Active uptake of bicarbonate by diatoms. *Nature*, 390(6657), Article 6657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/36765</u>
- Trimborn, S., Lundholm, N., Thoms, S., Richter, K.-U., Krock, B., Hansen, P. J., & Rost, B. (2008). Inorganic carbon acquisition in potentially toxic and non-toxic diatoms: The effect of pH-induced changes in seawater carbonate chemistry. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 133(1), 92–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.01038.x</u>
- Turner, J. (2015). Zooplankton fecal pellets, marine snow, phytodetritus and the ocean's biological pump. *Progress in Oceanography*, *130*, 205-248.
- Uitz, J., Claustre, H., Gentili, B., & Stramski, D. (2010). Phytoplankton class-specific primary production in the world's oceans: Seasonal and interannual variability from satellite

observations. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 24, GB3016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2009GB003680</u>

- Varrella, S., Romano, G., Ianora, A., Bentley, M. G., Ruocco, N., & Costantini, M. (2014). Molecular response to toxic diatom-derived aldehydes in the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Marine Drugs*, 12(4), Article 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md12042089</u>
- Vidoudez, C., Casotti, R., Bastianini, M., & Pohnert, G. (2011). Quantification of dissolved and particulate polyunsaturated aldehydes in the Adriatic Sea. *Marine Drugs*, *9*(4), 500–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md9040500</u>
- Vidoudez, C., Nejstgaard, J. C., Jakobsen, H. H., & Pohnert, G. (2011). Dynamics of dissolved and particulate polyunsaturated aldehydes in mesocosms inoculated with different densities of the diatom *Skeletonema marinoi*. *Marine Drugs*, 9(3), 345–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md9030345</u>
- Vidoudez, C., & Pohnert, G. (2008). Growth phase-specific release of polyunsaturated aldehydes by the diatom *Skeletonema marinoi*. *Journal of Plankton Research*, *30*(11), 1305–1313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbn085</u>
- Wichard, T., Poulet, S. A., Halsband-Lenk, C., Albaina, A., Harris, R., Liu, D. Y., & Pohnert, G. (2005). Survey of the chemical defense potential of diatoms: Screening of fifty one species for alpha,beta,gamma,delta-unsaturated aldehydes. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 31(4), 949–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-005-3615-z</u>
- Wichard, T., Poulet, S. A., & Pohnert, G. (2005). Determination and quantification of  $\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta$ unsaturated aldehydes as pentafluorobenzyl-oxime derivates in diatom cultures and natural phytoplankton populations: Application in marine field studies. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 814(1), 155–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2004.10.021</u>
- Wiggert, J. D., Haskell, A. G. E., Paffenhöfer, G.-A., Hofmann, E. E., & Klinck, J. M. (2005). The role of feeding behavior in sustaining copepod populations in the tropical ocean. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 27(10), 1013–1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbi090</u>
- Witkowski, A. (2000). Diatom flora of marine coasts. *Annotated Diatom Micrographs*, vol. 7, pages 1-925.
- Wu, Z., Li, Q. P., Dong, Y., Xu, J., & Luo, L. (2021). High-resolution surveys of phytoplanktonderived polyunsaturated aldehydes at frontal zones outside a eutrophic estuary. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, 126(3), e2020JG005808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2020JG005808</u>
- Young, J., Heureux, A., Sharwood, R., Rickaby, R., Morel, F., & Whitney, S. (2016). Large variation in the RubisCO kinetics of diatoms reveals diversity among their carbonconcentrating mechanisms. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(11), 3445–3456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw163</u>

- Young, J., & Hopkinson, B. (2017). Potential for co-evolution of CO<sub>2</sub>-concentrating mechanisms and RubisCO in diatoms. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 68(14), 3751–3762.
- Zgrundo, A., Lemke, P., Pniewski, F., Cox, E.J. & Lata, A. (2013). Morphological and molecular phylogenetic studies on *Fistulifera saprophila*. *Diatom Research*, 28(4): 431-443.
- Zimba, P. V., Hill, E. M., & Withers, K. (2016). Benthic microalgae serve as the major food resource for porcelain crabs (*Petrolisthes* spp.) in oyster reefs: Gut content and pigment evidence1. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 483, 53–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2016.06.005</u>

**Figures and Tables** 



2,4 - Heptadienal



2,4 - Octadienal

Ò

2,4 - Decadienal

Figure 1. Chemical structures of the three PUAs considered in this study.



**Figure 2.** Representative scanning electron micrographs used for identification of (A) *Fragilariopsis pseudonana,* (B) *Nitzschia* sp. a, (C) *Licmophora flabellata,* (D) *Cylindrotheca closterium,* (E) *Navicula vara,* (F) *Fistulifera saprophila,* (G) *Nitzschia* sp. b, and (H) *Navicula* sp. White scale bars depict 1 µm in all images but (C) and (D), which depict 10 µm.



**Figure 3.** Representative example of culture distribution within the incubator during the upwelling experiment. Colors denote *S. marinoi* (white), *F. pseudonana* (black), and blanks (dark gray). Temperature loggers (light gray) were placed in corners of the incubator. Culture placement was randomized daily.



**Figure 4.** Benthic diatom PUA survey of (A) 2,4-heptadienal, (B) 2,4-octadienal, (C) 2,4decadienal, and (D) total PUA production. Gray bars represent means of quantifiable replicates and error bars represent standard deviations. Each diatom species tested was performed in triplicate cultures and quantified as nmol PUA molecule per  $\mu$ g of chlorophyll-*a*. Cultures containing replicates below method quantitation limit (MQL) are marked with an asterisk. Note differences in scale of Y axes.



**Figure 5.** Carbon acquisition plot of diatoms throughout the upwelling experiment. Both species started in media pre-equilibrated to target  $pCO_2$  levels (µatm). Symbol shape is used to define the diatom species, while color is used to define  $pCO_2$  level. Trendlines are used to infer daily  $CO_2$  acquisition rate. Pre-equilibrated media (Day 0) and Day 6 values are means of quadruplicate and triplicate measurements, respectively. Error bars represent standard deviations, with some bars are hidden behind symbol. Day 3 values come from single measurements.



**Figure 6.** pH measurements of media from (A) *S. marinoi* and (B) *F. pseudonana* throughout the upwelling experiment. Color is used to define  $pCO_2$  level (µatm). Pre-equilibrated media (Day 0) and Day 6 values are means of quadruplicate and triplicate measurements, respectively. Error bars represent standard deviations. Day 3 values come from single measurements. Note the difference in Y axes scale.



**Figure 7.** *S. marinoi* PUA production across  $pCO_2$  level (µatm) of (A) 2,4-heptadienal, (B) 2,4-octadienal, (C) 2,4-decadienal, and (D) total PUA production. Gray bars represent means of replicate cultures and error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. No significant difference was observed across  $pCO_2$  level (p = 0.294). *S. marinoi* produced greater concentrations of 2,4-octadienal than 2,4-heptadienal (p = 0.005) and lower amounts 2,4-decadienal (p << 0.001) across all  $pCO_2$  levels. Note differences in scale of Y axes.



**Figure 8.** *F. pseudonana* PUA production across  $pCO_2$  level (µatm) of (A) 2,4-heptadienal, (B) 2,4-octadienal, (C) 2,4-decadienal, and (D) total PUA production. Gray bars represent means of quantifiable replicate cultures and error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. *F. pseudonana* produced significantly more PUAs in the 400 µatm treatment than the 1200 µatm treatment (p = 0.028). *F. pseudonana* also produced greater concentrations of 2,4-octadienal than 2,4-heptadienal (p = 0.005) and lower amounts 2,4-decadienal (p << 0.001) across all  $pCO_2$  levels. Values below the quantification limit were quantified and visualized using MQL/2. Note differences in scale of Y axes.

Compound	Molecular Ion ( <i>m/z</i> )
Alkanes	57
Hexadecane-d34	66
PFBHA Derivatization Agent	181
All PUAs	276
Benzaldehyde	301
2,4-Heptadienal	305
2,4-Octadienal	319
2,4-Decadienal	347

**Table 1.** Molecular and fragment ions (m/z) of compounds monitored for identification on GC-MS.

**Table 2.** Method detection limit (MDL) and quantitation limit (MQL) of PUA molecules. Values were calculated using 6 replicate 0.001 nmol mixed PUA standards. MDL was calculated as  $3\sigma$  and MQL as  $10\sigma$ .

Compound	MDL (nmol)	MQL (nmol)
2,4-Heptadienal	0.00556	0.0185
2,4-Octadienal	0.00526	0.0175
2,4-Decadienal	0.00858	0.0286

**Table 3.** Average chlorophyll-*a* measurements ( $\mu$ g) of inoculum and experimental bottles with their respective growth rates ( $\mu$ ). Errors are standard deviations based on four replicate analyses. Growth rates were calculated using pre- and post-experiment chlorophyll measurements assuming exponential growth. No significant difference was found in growth rates and total chlorophyll-*a* across *p*CO<sub>2</sub> levels within species.

Sample	Total <i>S. marinoi</i> chlorophyll- <i>a</i> (μg)	<i>S. marinoi</i> Average μ	Total <i>F. pseudonana</i> chlorophyll- <i>a</i> (μg)	<i>F. pseudonana</i> Average μ
Inoculum	$0.87\pm0.17$		$1.99\pm0.09$	
400 µatm	$98.02\pm 6.30$	$0.79\pm0.01$	$66.43\pm 6.55$	$0.58\pm0.02$
800 µatm	$105.42\pm21.48$	$0.80\pm0.03$	$72.78\pm17.14$	$0.60\pm0.04$
1200 µatm	$96.19 \pm 11.17$	$0.78\pm0.02$	$80.03\pm38.13$	$0.60\pm0.08$

## Appendix A

**Table A1.** Water chemistry parameters for pre-equilibrated media and diatom cultures. Variables include salinity (ppt), pH, DIC ( $\mu$ mol/kg), and pCO<sub>2</sub> ( $\mu$ atm). Day 0 media and Day 6 values are means  $\pm$  standard deviations of quadruplicate and triplicate measurements, respectively.

<i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub>	Level (µatm)	Salinity (ppt)	pН	DIC (µmol/kg)	pCO <sub>2</sub> (µatm)
Pre-Equi	librated Media				
	400	32.13	$8.02\pm0.03$	$2034\pm1$	$425\pm27$
	800	32.15	$7.76\pm0.02$	$2141\pm2$	$836\pm38$
	1200	32.21	$7.59 \pm 0.04$	$2191\pm3$	$1267\pm110$
S. marino	<i>pi</i>				
Day 3					
	400	32.38	8.18	1980	276
	800	32.40	7.95	2094	516
	1200	32.46	7.84	2143	689
Day 6					
	400	$32.30\pm0.04$	$8.93\pm 0.03$	$1619\pm0$	$29\pm3$
	800	$32.33\pm0.01$	$8.79\pm0.00$	$1777\pm 6$	$48\pm0$
	1200	$32.36\pm0.04$	$8.50\pm0.06$	$1802\pm2$	$112\pm19$
F. pseudo	onana				
Day 3					
	400	32.37	8.10	2009	349
	800	32.33	7.91	2068	563
	1200	32.39	7.76	2116	832
Day 6					
	400	$32.38\pm0.13$	$8.51\pm0.02$	$1822\pm4$	$108 \pm 5$
	800	$32.36\pm0.04$	$8.37\pm0.01$	$1910\pm9$	$166 \pm 6$
	1200	$32.45\pm0.11$	$8.23\pm0.02$	$1990\pm9$	$247\pm14$

**Table A2.** Levene's analysis output for diatom PUA production across all PUA molecules and  $pCO_2$  with degrees of freedom (df), F-values, and p-values. Assumption of equal variance is met where p > 0.05.

Comparison	df	<b>F-value</b>	p-value
<i>S. marinoi</i> <i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> – PUA Molecule	8	0.6511	0.7284
<i>F. pseudonana</i> <i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> – PUA Molecule	8	1.2478	0.3107
<b>Total PUAs</b> <i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> - Species	5	1.8217	0.1593

**Table A3.** Shapiro-Wilks analysis output for diatom PUA production across all PUA molecules and  $pCO_2$  with p-values. Assumption of normality is met where p > 0.05. One analysis did not meet the assumption, which was acknowledged but ignored because ANOVA is robust to non-normality.

Comparison	p-value	
S. marinoi		
<i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> – PUA Molecule	0.3348	
F. pseudonana		
<i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> – PUA Molecule	0.0096	
Total PUAs		
$pCO_2$ - Species	0.5062	

Analysis	df	<b>F-value</b>	p-value
S. marinoi			
$pCO_2$	2	1.281	0.294
PUA Molecule	2	3600	<< 0.001*
F. pseudonana			
$pCO_2$	2	4.259	0.0247*
PUA Molecule	2	727	<< 0.001*
<b>Total PUAs</b>			
$p\mathrm{CO}_2$	2	0.441	0.650
Species	1	441	<< 0.001*

**Table A4.** Two-way ANOVA output for diatom PUA production across all PUA molecules,  $pCO_2$  levels, and species. Analysis was significant where p < 0.05.

Comparison	p-value
S. marinoi	
Heptadienal - Octadienal	0.0052
Heptadienal - Decadienal	<< 0.001
Octadienal - Decadienal	<< 0.001
F. pseudonana	
400 - 1200 μatm	0.024
Heptadienal - Octadienal	0.0013
Heptadienal - Decadienal	<< 0.001
Octadienal - Decadienal	<< 0.001

**Table A5.** Tukey's *post-hoc* analysis output for diatom PUA molecules and  $pCO_2$  levels. Analysis was significant were p < 0.05. Only significant results are shown.



**Figure A1.** Reaction mechanism for derivatization of PUAs by PFHBA derivatization agent. Schematic shows reaction for 2,4-heptadienal as a representative example. Adapted from Klein (2011).



**Figure A2.** Mass spectrometry fragmentation patterns used for identification of PFHBA derivatization agent fragment (m/z 181) and PUA molecules (m/z 276). Representative PUA 2,4-heptadienal (m/z 305) was used for the schematic.



**Figure A3.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope image used for identification of *Fistulifera saprophila*.



**Figure A4.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope image used for identification of *Licmophora flabellata*.



**Figure A5.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope image used for identification of *Navicula* sp.



**Figure A6.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope image used for identification of *Nitzschia* sp. a.



**Figure A7.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope images used for identification of *Cylindrotheca closterium* and contaminant *Navicula vara*.



**Figure A8.** Scanning electron micrographs and light scope image used for identification of *Nitzschia* sp. b.



Figure A9. Scanning electron micrographs and light scope images used for identification of *Fragilariopsis pseudonana*.